IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, : Appellant, : vs. : STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

: Case No. 95,774

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is not proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of two sections and a supplement. The first part, contained in volumes I through IV, consists of documents filed with the clerk. References to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by volume number, followed by "R" and the appropriate page number. The second part of the record on appeal is contained in volumes V through XIV and consists of transcripts from trial and the pretrial hearings. References to this part of the record on appeal will be designated by volume number, followed by "T" and the appropriate page number. References to the one-volume "supplemental record" will be designated "SR" and the appropriate page number.

By order dated April 3, 2000, this Court granted Appellant's motion to take judicial notice of the record from Bolin's previous trial and appeal to this Court in Case No. 78,468. References to this prior record will be designated "PR", followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 1, 1990, Oscar Ray Bolin, Appellant, was indicted by a Hillsborough County grand jury for the January 1986 first degree murder, robbery with a weapon and kidnapping of Natalie Holley (I, R35-7). He was convicted at trial of all charges and a sentence of death was imposed. On appeal, this Court reversed his convictions because his former wife was permitted to testify to privileged marital communications (I, R38-45); <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 642 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 1994).

In another Hillsborough County homicide, Bolin was also convicted for first degree murder and sentenced to death. On appeal, this Court again reversed for violation of the spousal privilege; <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 650 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1995). However, in that opinion, this Court stated that a letter from Bolin to the investigating detective might establish a waiver of the spousal privilege. 650 So. 2d at 23-4. It was left to the trial court to determine whether "the circumstances together with the content of the letter ... indicate that Bolin voluntarily consented to disclosure by Coby of what she knew about Bolin's alleged criminal activities". 650 So. 2d at 24.

On remand to the circuit court, the original trial judge disqualified himself on March 8, 1995 pursuant to Appellant's motion (I, R59-68). Bolin then moved to suppress the letter, seized from his jail cell following his attempted suicide in June 1991, which contained the possible waiver of the spousal privilege (I, R100-04). After a suppression hearing held August 3,

1995, the trial court ruled that the letter had been seized from Bolin's jail cell without probable cause that it was either contraband or evidence of a crime (III, R389; SR74-5). The State appealed to the Second District, which reversed on the rationale that the letter was "in plain view" and "evidence of the attempted suicide" (IV, R554-62); <u>State v. Bolin</u>, 693 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). In an order dated July 10, 1997, this Court declined to accept jurisdiction (III, R401); <u>Bolin v. State</u>, 697 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 1997). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari; 522 U.S. 973 (1997).

The circuit court then heard Bolin's "Motion in Limine -Letters" (III, R404-9) on February 23 and March 16, 1998 (XIII-XIV, T1024-1118, 1186-1202). After hearing witnesses and evidence regarding the authenticity of a letter written by Bolin and addressed to his attorneys, the court ruled that this letter was not authentic (XIV, T1202).

The judge then addressed the waiver question. Appellant's "Amended Motion in Limine ... Waiver of Spousal Privilege ..." (I, 105-24) had originally been declared moot following the 1995 ruling which suppressed the letter (XIII, T1121; SR75). At the pretrial hearing of February 23, 1998, the court heard argument from defense counsel that Appellant's letter to Captain Terry should not be treated as a waiver of his spousal privilege (XIII, T1122-31). Counsel noted that Bolin did not disclose any confidential communication in the letter (I, R171; XIII, T1122). At the time that the letter was written, the trial judge had already

ruled that he no longer retained the privilege (I, R108, 176-8; XIII, T1122-3). Moreover, Bolin had placed a postage stamp on the letter, but never released it to the jail personnel for mailing (I, R176; XIII, T1077, 1125). Therefore, there was no voluntary delivery of the letter to Captain Terry (I, R108, 176; XIII, T1125).

Counsel further argued that Bolin's previous filing of a motion to discharge his attorneys because their actions had caused the trial judge to find a waiver of the spousal privilege showed his intent to assert his privilege at all times (I, R177; XIII, T1125-7). Therefore, his suicide note should not be construed as a voluntary waiver when the judge had already told him that he no longer retained the privilege (I, R108, 177-8; XIII, T1126-8).

The third point was even if the letter could be found to be a waiver, the waiver would only be prospective, not retrospective (I, R108, 181-3; XIII, T1128-9). Therefore, any waiver was subsequently revoked by reassertion of the privilege before Bolin's ex-wife testified at trial (I, R108, 174, 184-5; XIII, T1129, 1143). It was also contingent upon Bolin's attempted suicide actually resulting in his death (I, R109, 185-6; XIII, T1129-31).

In ruling, the trial court conjectured that this Court would have been aware of the sequence of events and accordingly must have found that any waiver could be applied retroactively to Cheryl Coby's deposition testimony (XIII, T1147-9, 1173-4, 1176).

He ruled Bolin's letter was a voluntary waiver which, while "prospective only in its tone, had the legal effect of acting or operating retroactively" (XIII, T1177). At the March 16, 1998 hearing, the court reiterated his ruling; "the ... letter amounts to a waiver of the spousal immunity privilege, subsequently withdrawn" (XIV, T1202).

At the February 4, 1999 hearing, defense counsel asked the judge to rehear his "Motion to Dismiss Counts Two and Three of the Indictment" (I, R81-3; III, R437-40; XII, T980). This motion, based upon the running of the statute of limitations before the indictment was returned, had originally been heard and denied on August 3, 1995 (I, R81; S89-92). The basis for rehearing was subsequent case law which was argued to the court (XII, T980-95). The trial judge adhered to the prior ruling (III, R437; XII, T995).

The court then considered Appellant's "Motion for Rehearing of Motion in Limine - Spousal Privilege" (III, R453-6; XII, T995-1002). The motion was based upon further research on whether a waiver of a privilege could later be revoked (III, R453-5; XII, T996-9). Defense counsel argued that a waiver can be revoked as long as the privileged material was not disclosed during the period that the waiver was in effect (XII, T996-9). The State insisted that the only issue before the trial court was whether Bolin's waiver in the letter was voluntary (XII, 1001). The judge denied the motion (III, R453; XII, T1002).

Defense counsel also moved to continue the trial based upon

his investigator's receipt of a telephone call from a prospective defense witness who would testify that another person confessed to the homicide shortly after it took place (III, R434-6; XII, T1005-11). This prospective defense witness could not be subpoenaed because he was avoiding warrants for his arrest (XII, T1009). However, he said that he was planning to turn himself in soon (XII, T1009). The court denied the motion for continuance (III, R434; XII, T1012).

On February 12, 1999, defense counsel served a "Motion to Exclude Prior Testimony of Cheryl Jo Coby" (III, R462-8). The motion was based upon several instances where prior counsel for Appellant had been ineffective in his crossexamination of the State's star witness, Bolin's ex-wife (III, R462-8). Immediately prior to trial, the judge stated on the record that he had read the motion and would deny it (V, T4).

Trial was held February 15-8, 1999 before Circuit Judge J. Rogers Padgett. During jury selection, Appellant objected when the State exercised a peremptory strike on a prospective African-American juror, Ms. Nellon (VI, T146-7). The court required the State to give a race neutral reason and found that the strike was "non-pretextural" [sic] (VI, T147-8). When defense counsel later accepted the jury, he renewed his objection to the excusal of the prospective juror (VI, T229).

Prior to opening statements, Appellant renewed his objection to use of all spousal statements which would have fallen within the privilege (VII, T253-4). The court granted a standing

objection (VII, T254). It was again renewed immediately before the playing of Cheryl Coby's videotaped testimony to the jury (VIII, T420). Before the prosecutor presented evidence about the letter from Bolin addressed to Captain Terry, defense counsel renewed his objection based upon illegal seizure and violation of Bolin's Sixth Amendment right to counsel (IX, T565-6).

When the State put on evidence which purported to link the seat upholstery of the vehicle once owned by the Bolins to fibers found on Holley's body, defense counsel argued that it should be excluded because the State could not show that the upholstery had not been replaced during the intervening years (VIII, T409). In allowing the evidence to come in, the court took judicial notice: "It's an American car and the upholstery will outlast the car" (VIII, T409).

Appellant charged the State with a discovery violation based upon their substitution of FBI agent Eric Gilkerson as an expert witness in footwear examination for William Heilman, who had testified at the prior trial (IX, T555-7). Defense counsel was not told of the substitution until six days prior to trial and did not learn until 1 1/2 hours before Gilkerson testified that his testimony would be materially different from that of Heilman (IX, T556-7). The court ruled that there was no discovery violation and no unfair prejudice to defense preparation for trial (IX, T586). The court also ruled that defense witness Robert Lima would not be permitted give his opinion that shoe manufacturers do not put the same size sole on different shoe

sizes (IX, T612-7).

After the State rested, defense counsel moved for judgment of acquittal, arguing that the State had produced insufficient evidence of kidnapping and should also not be permitted to proceed on a felony murder theory with kidnapping as the underlying felony (IX, T575). The court denied Appellant motion for judgment of acquittal and also the renewed motion after the close of all evidence (IX, T576; X, T661).

In the charge conference, defense counsel objected to instructing the jury on the two counts for which the statute of limitations had run - kidnapping and robbery with a weapon (X, T667). This objection was renewed prior to the court's reading of the instructions to the jury (X, T716).

After the jury retired to deliberate, they requested a copy of the letter written by Bolin to Captain Terry (IV, R504; X, T740). As agreed to by the defense, the judge told the jury that they already had all of the evidence that they were going to receive (X, T741-2).

The jury returned a verdict finding Bolin guilty as charged on all three counts (IV, R519-20; X, T744).

At the penalty trial, defense counsel's request for three special jury instructions was denied (IV, R514-7; XI, T751-6, 850). One of these was intended to clarify the parameters of the pecuniary gain aggravating circumstance (IV, R514; XI, T751-4). Appellant objected to allowing the State to use photos of the body of Terry Matthews, the victim in a Pasco County homicide for

which Bolin was convicted (XI, T757-9). Counsel argued that the photos of her wounds were unduly prejudicial and outweighed any probative value (XI, T757-8, 765). The judge allowed the photos, finding that they were "not particularly gruesome" and relevant to illustrate testimony (XI, T767).

Over defense objection to presentation of hearsay with no fair opportunity to rebut it, the lead detective on the Matthews case, Gary Kling, was permitted to testify to what an alleged eyewitness, Philip Bolin, told him about the circumstances of that homicide (XI, T788-90).

The jury, by a vote of 11-1, returned a recommendation that Bolin be sentenced to death (IV, R521; XI, T851).

To supplement the evidence presented to the jury, defense counsel attached to his Sentencing Memorandum a transcript of testimony given during the previous penalty trial by Appellant's mother, Mary Baughman (IV, R530-53). At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, held May 14, 1999, defense counsel did not comment further on this submission or other evidence; but argued that the pecuniary gain aggravating factor was improperly weighed by the jury (XIV, T1213-4). Appellant's motion for new trial was also heard and denied at this time (IV, R570-3; XIV, T1207-9, 1213).

At the June 4, 1999 sentencing hearing, the court imposed a sentence of death on the murder count and filed his sentencing order (IV, R578-80, 588-91; XIV, T1220). On the kidnapping and robbery with a weapon counts, Appellant was sentenced to consecutive terms of life imprisonment (IV, R581-6; XIV, T1221-2). No

sentencing guidelines scoresheet was before the court when these sentences were imposed (SR8).

The judge's Sentencing Order found three aggravating circumstances: 1) prior violent felony, 2) committed during a kidnapping, and 3) committed for financial gain (IV, R588-9; see Appendix). A total of ten nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were considered and found by the court (IV, R589-90; see Appendix). The judge gave "the greatest possible weight" to the first two aggravating factors and "some weight" to the third factor (IV, R591; see Appendix). "Little weight" was given to the first five mitigating factors (relating to Rosalie Bolin's testimony) and "some weight" was given to the other five mitigating factors (relating to Appellant's childhood) (IV, R591; see Appendix). The court agreed with the jury's death recommendation, finding that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigation (IV, R591; see Appendix).

Appellant filed his notice of appeal June 4, 1999 (IV, R592). On the same day, court-appointed counsel was permitted to withdraw and the Public Defender appointed for appellate representation (IV, R601). Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. <u>State's Evidence</u>

The homicide victim, Natalie Blanche Holley, was last seen alive by her co-worker at a Church's Fried Chicken outlet in Tampa. The co-worker, Vinda Woodson, testified that after the store closed, she and Holley cleaned up and left at the same time "a little before 1:30 [a.m.]" on January 25, 1986 (VII, T277-8). Woodson also identified a photograph of Holley's car, which was later found abandoned (VII, T279).

Later that morning before 8:00 a.m., a local attorney, Gerald Sage, was jogging on a dirt road near his house when he noticed a body in the woods (VII, T283-4). Not knowing whether it was just someone sleeping or a dead body, Mr. Sage went home and called the Sheriff's Office (VII, T285-6). He also noticed tire tracks which had crossed over those left by his daughter when she returned from a date between 1:00 and 1:15 a.m. (VII, T284).

Hillsborough County Sheriff's Deputy Robert Libengood arrived and observed a deceased female with wounds to her throat (VII, T292-3). The area, which Deputy Libengood described as an overgrown orange grove, was sealed off (VII, T294). Dr. Lee Miller, Associate Medical Examiner of Hillsborough County, went to the scene and determined that the woman had been stabbed to death (IX, T496-7). At an autopsy conducted the next day, Dr. Miller counted eight stab wounds to the chest, two of which were fatal (IX, T498-9, 503). There were also two stab wounds in the

neck (IX, T499). Several items of jewelry and a Pulsar watch were found on the body (VII, T331; IX, T501-2). There was no evidence of any sexual attack (IX, T501).

The State and the defense stipulated that the homicide victim was identified as Natalie Holley (IX, T576).

Lead detective Steven Raney testified that he observed tire tracks at the scene where the body was found, but they were not distinguishable (VII, T304). Footprints near the body were also not distinguishable (VII, T304-5). A fiber was collected from the victim's pants (VII, T308).

That afternoon, Detective Raney went to the intersection of Lake Magdalene Blvd. and Smitter Road where Holley's Dodge Dart had been located (VII, T310-11). He noticed shoe impressions outside the driver's door (VII, T314). The impressions were photographed and plaster casts were made from them (VII, T314-5). A shoe pattern was also visible on the floorboard inside the victim's car (VII, T316-7). Subsequently, the detective purchased a pair of size 10 Trax tennis shoes at a K-Mart store because the tread pattern appeared to be identical to what he had seen by Holley's car (VII, T318-20, 330).

Corporal Ronald Valenti of the Hillsborough County Sheriff's Office testified that he stopped at the corner of Lake Magdalene and Smitter around 2:00 a.m. the morning of the homicide because he saw two cars parked in a grass area by the intersection (VII, T340-1). The car in the rear had its hazard lights flashing (VII, T341). Deputy Valenti used his mobile computer to check

the tag of the vehicle in the rear (VII, T344). The printout of this check showed that the vehicle was a 2 door Pontiac registered to Cheryl and Oscar Ray Bolin (VII, T345).

Valenti observed that a man and a woman were in the front car, the man in the driver's seat (VII, T346-7). He pulled alongside of them and asked if everything was all right (VII, T346). The driver explained that he had run out of gas and that the woman was taking him to a gas station (VII, T348). Deputy Valenti asked the woman if she was okay and she replied that she was (VII, T348). The deputy proceeded on his original dispatch (VII, T348).

After Natalie Holley's abandoned vehicle was found at the opposite corner of this intersection, Deputy Valenti was interviewed by Detective Raney to see if the otherwise routine event might be related to the homicide (VII, T359). At that time, Deputy Valenti estimated that he had run the tag sometime between 4:00 and 5:30 a.m. (VII, T359-60). Valenti had been aware of the victim's vehicle during the course of his shift, but believed that it was a third auto which had already been on the opposite corner when he checked the tag of the Bolins' Pontiac (VII, T349; VIII, 369-72, 374).

Detective Raney did a follow-up interview with Cheryl Bolin on January 28, 1986 (VII, T334-5; X, T621). At that time, she told the detective that her vehicle was parked at her residence and was not driven on the night of January 24-5, 1986 (X, T621-2).

The homicide investigation stalled for over four years. On July 16, 1990, pursuant to information given by her new husband, law enforcement officers spoke with Cheryl at her new residence in Indiana (VIII, T475-6). When she talked to the Hillsborough County detectives, she accused Appellant of committing this homicide (VIII, T476; IX, T567-8). A videotaped deposition taken to perpetuate her testimony was played for the jury (VIII, T421-83).

Cheryl Coby testified during this deposition that in January 1986, she and Appellant resided in a trailer park on North Florida Avenue in Tampa (VIII, T425). Bolin's stepsister, Melonda Williams, resided with them and was employed at the Church's Fried Chicken restaurant on the corner of Fowler and Nebraska (VIII, T426). On the evening of January 24, 1986, she and her husband went to a Burger King located across the street from Church's Fried Chicken (VIII, T429). They got coffee and parked in the lot for about an hour facing Church's (VIII, T430). W@hen she asked Appellant what he was doing, he replied that he was "scoping the place out" (VIII, T431).

They returned home, watched television, and the witness went to bed (VIII, T431). She was awakened at 2:00 a.m. by Appellant, who exclaimed, "Get up, come on, I got to show you something" (VIII, T431-2, 467-8). She saw Bolin changing his shoes in the bathroom and noticed that there was blood on the new Trax tennis shoes they had recently purchased at K-Mart (VIII, T432-3). Then he showed her a purse and dumped its contents on the bed (VIII,

T434). Appellant removed \$75 and some pills; the other contents were put back into the purse (VIII, T435).

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