IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC95774

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0445071 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739 Fax (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As previously noted, the evidence in the instant case, included a prior conviction for the rape and kidnapping in Ohio. In support of the Ohio rape and kidnapping conviction, Bolin's

victim, Jennifer LeFevre, testified during the penalty phase. On November 18, 1987, she was kidnapped by Bolin at gunpoint. (V11/790-92) Bolin put her in a semi-truck with 2 other males. (V11/793) She testified that she begged him not to kill her, not to rape her and he told her to just accept it because it was going to happen. After he raped her he would not let her get dressed. (V11/795-97) She testified that she heard them say they were going to have to get rid of her. (V11/801) Bolin blindfolded her and took her out into a ditch. (V11/802) She begged him not to kill her. Bolin tossed her over a fence and told her to run. (V11/803)

In addition to the LaFevre rape and kidnapping, the trial court also found that the instant crime was committed during the course of a kidnapping and for pecuniary gain. Finally, the state would note that this error is further rendered harmless by the fact that in the event of a remand, Bolin's conviction and sentence for the murder of Stephanie Collins could be considered in support of the prior violent felony aggravator. In that case, which is currently pending on appeal to this Court in Case No. SC95775, Bolin was re-sentenced to death on the same date that the sentence in the instant case was entered. (V14/1220) As violent felony convictions suffice for purposes of the prior violent felony aggravator when the convictions *predate the sentencing*, even when the crimes underlying the conviction occurred after the crime for which the defendant is being sentenced, the Collins conviction

could have been considered in support of the prior violent felony aggravator. <u>Knight v. State</u>, 746 So.2d 423, 434 (Fla. 1998) Therefore, since upon remand the lower could rely on this conviction, the consideration of the Pasco conviction is harmless.

In light of the facts of this case, the jury's recommendation of death by a vote of 11 to 1, the insignificant mitigation presented, the Jennifer LeFevre and Stephanie Collins' prior violent felonies, it is beyond a reasonable doubt that the vacating of the Pasco sentence was harmless and that resentencing is not required.

As for appellant's argument that the court erred in allowing Det. Kling to testify regarding the prior conviction, this Court has repeatedly held that the admission of such evidence is proper. <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 708 So.2d 256, 261 (Fla.1998); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 412, 415 (Fla. 1992); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1012, 1026 (Fla. 1999); <u>Waterhouse v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1008, 1016 (Fla.1992). Appellant's contention that he was denied the opportunity to present to the jury the fact that Philip changed his testimony several times prior to trial is equally without merit. Defense counsel could have introduced this evidence through the cross-examination of Det. Kling or during his own case. The failure to avail himself of this opportunity does not equate with a denial of the right to rebut the hearsay evidence.

The challenge to the introduction of the photographs of Terri

Matthews' body is also without merit as this evidence was relevant and admissible to assist the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime. Upon rejecting a similar argument in <u>Zakrzewski v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 488 (Fla. 1998), this Court noted that §921.142(2), Florida Statutes (1995), describes the procedure for the penalty phase of a capital case, states "[a]ny such evidence which the court deems to have probative value may be received, regardless of its admissibility under the exclusionary rules of evidence...." <u>Id</u>.at 494-495. Accordingly, as the photographs were not unduly focused upon in the proceeding, or made a feature of the trial and as they were relevant to assist the jury in evaluating the character of the defendant and the circumstances of the crime, no error resulted from their admission. See, <u>Jones v. State</u>, 748 So.2d 1012, 1026 (Fla. 1999); <u>Hudson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 708 So.2d 256, 261 (Fla.1998).

Moreover, as previously noted, any error with regard to the consideration of this evidence was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, where the factor is well established by the evidence presented in support of Bolin's other prior violent felony convictions.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S SPECIALLY REQUESTED PENALTY JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE PECUNIARY GAIN AGGRAVATING FACTOR.

Next appellant contends that the trial court committed reversible error in denying his request for an addition to the standard instruction on pecuniary gain. "A trial court's ruling on whether or not to give a specially requested jury instruction is reviewed under an 'abuse of discretion' standard." <u>Shearer v.</u> <u>State</u>, 2000 WL 380214 (Fla.App. 1 Dist. 2000), citing <u>Beatty v.</u> <u>State</u>, 500 So.2d 173, 174 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). A judgment should not be reversed for failure to give a particular jury charge where the instructions given are clear, comprehensive, and correct. Shearer.

This Court has repeatedly approved the standard instruction on pecuniary gain instruction. In <u>Walker</u>, infra., this Court held:

to the pecuniary gain aggravator and As instruction, this Court stated in Chaky v. State, 651 So.2d 1169 (Fla.1995), that the pecuniary gain aggravator applies where "the murder is an integral step in obtaining some sought-after specific gain." Id. at 1172. We further explained the applicability of this aggravator in Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674 (Fla.1995), stating that "[i]n order to establish this aggravating factor, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was motivated, at least in part, by a desire to obtain money, property, or other financial gain." Id. at 680. Thus, the standard instruction which the jury received in this case was appropriate in light of the evidence showing that Walker did not want to

take responsibility for Quinton Jones, asked Joanne Jones to get the support payments reduced, and killed both victims after arguing with Ms. Jones about child support.

<u>Walker v. State</u>, 707 So.2d 300, 316 (Fla. 1997).

In the instant case, the trial court found the following in support of the pecuniary gain factor:

3. <u>The capital felony was committed for</u> <u>financial gain</u>.

The testimony of witness Coby was that she saw the defendant in possession of the victim's purse immediately after the killing, that he took \$75.00 therefrom, and commented that he had expected, or hoped, that the victim would be carrying her employer's money. This aggravating factor was proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

(V4/588-591)

Moreover, in view of the jury's verdict in the guilt phase that Bolin was guilty of the kidnapping and robbery with a weapon of Natalie Holley this aggravating circumstance was established beyond a reasonable doubt and no further instruction was required.¹¹ See, <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 845, 852 (Fla. 1997); <u>Fotopoulos v.</u> <u>State</u>, 608 So.2d 784, 793 (Fla. 1992); <u>Perry v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 817, 820 (Fla.1988). As appellant has failed to establish as abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court, this claim should be denied. However, even if this Court should find that this instruction should have been altered, under the circumstances of this case, any error would be harmless.

¹¹ Bolin does not challenge either of these convictions on appeal.

ISSUE VII

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE'S SENTENCING ORDER PROPERLY WEIGHS AND FINDS CERTAIN AGGRAVATING FACTORS AND GIVES ONLY SUMMARY TREATMENT TO THE MITIGATION EVIDENCE PRESENTED.

Appellant's next claim is that the trial court committed several errors in the sentencing order, including considering the Pasco County conviction, a factual misstatement, finding of the pecuniary gain factor and summary treatment of mitigating factors. It is the state's contention that this order complies with this Court's holding in <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1990) and that error, if any is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

a. <u>Pasco County Conviction</u>

As stated in Issue V, the court's consideration of the subsequently reversed Pasco Conviction is harmless.

b. <u>Findings in Support of Kidnapping Aggravator</u>

Appellant objects to Judge Padgett's findings that the victim being abducted from the parking lot at her place of employment and to her being driven at gunpoint for some miles before her death. The state contends that the reference to the parking lot is a harmless misstatement of fact and the reference to the abduction at gunpoint is well supported by the record.

Cheryl Coby testified that she and Bolin sat in the parking lot while Bolin surveyed the Church's Chicken where Ms. Holley worked. (V8/428-32) Bolin then subsequently followed Ms. Holley

after she got off work, until he was able to force her off the road. He then held her at gunpoint until they drove to the orange grove. Cheryl testified that Bolin told her he couldn't shoot Ms. Holley because it would make too much noise, so he stabbed her. When she started to scream, he stabbed her in the throat. (V8/439-41) Furthermore, the jury convicted Bolin of Ms. Holley's kidnapping. Accordingly, any error in the recitation of these facts is harmless, as the finding is well supported by the evidence. <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 6, 13 (Fla. 1999)

c. <u>Pecuniary Gain</u>

As previously noted in Issue VI, in view of the jury's verdict in the guilt phase that Bolin was guilty of the kidnapping and robbery with a weapon of Natalie Holley this aggravating circumstance was established beyond a reasonable doubt. See, <u>Cole v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 845, 852 (Fla. 1997); <u>Fotopoulos v. State</u>, 608 So.2d 784, 793 (Fla.1992); <u>Perry v. State</u>, 522 So.2d 817, 820 (Fla.1988).

d. <u>Treatment of Mitigation</u>

Appellant next claims that the trial court's treatment of the mitigating factors was insufficient and compares it to the sentencing order in <u>Crump v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1995). A comparison of the order found insufficient in <u>Crump</u> bears no resemblance to the order written in the instant case. Crump's sentencing order and it's deficiencies were described as follows:

The sentencing order we are now presented with is three pages in length, and the only specific non-statutory mention of the mitigation proposed by Crump is the attached list of suggested mitigation filed by Crump himself. The sentencing order contains only following language concerning the the evaluation and weighing of the non-statutory mitigation:

6. Each non-statutory mitigating circumstance proposed by the Defendant was reasonably established by a greater weight of the evidence; considered to be mitigating in nature; and given some, but very little, weight.

7. The non-statutory mitigating circumstances, when considered collectively, should be and are given slight weight.

8. The statutory aggravating circumstance clearly outweighs the non-statutory mitigating circumstances and justice demands that the Defendant be sentenced to death.

In contrast the order in the instant case, with regard to the mitigating circumstances extensively sets forth the factors found and the weight assigned to each factor:

MITIGATING FACTORS

The defendant elected to call one witness during the penalty phase of the trial, his wife. She married the defendant since his confinement to death row and her testimony in mitigation amounted to her description of the defendant's attitude and conduct toward her and in her presence. In that context she testified to the following non-statutory mitigating factors:

1. The defendant can be a gentle and caring person.

2. The defendant has an appealing sense of humor.

3. The defendant is respectful towards her.

4. The defendant loves her and she loves him.

5. She visits him regularly and would continue to do so.

In addition the defendant attached to his sentencing memorandum a transcript of the testimony of his mother which was given in an earlier penalty phase. Regarding the defendant's childhood she testified to the following non-statutory mitigating factors:

6. The defendant's father, with whom the defendant's mother lived, more or less, but never married, neglected the defendant during his childhood by frequent extended absences, refusal of material support and withholding of attention.

7. The defendant's father abused and demeaned the defendant physically and emotionally by beating him and sometimes throwing food on the floor and ordering the defendant to "eat it like a dog".

8. The defendant witnessed frequent violence between his mother and father, including gunfire.

9. The defendant's father threatened, more than once, to kill him.

10. The defendant was taken by his mother to and from the school bus stop with a dog chain attached to his waist.

The defendant offered no statutory mitigating factors.

WEIGHING PROCESS

The court, after careful consideration, assigns the greatest possible weight to aggravating factors one and two and some weight to aggravating factor three.

The court assigns little weight to mitigating factors one through five and some weight to mitigating factors six through ten. Although the jury did not hear the testimony of the defendant's mother, still the court agrees with the jury that the aggravating factors outweigh the mitigating factors.

(V4/589-591)

This order complies with the dictates of <u>Campbell</u>, where this Court explained that if a death sentence is imposed, the court must not only consider any and all mitigating evidence, but must "expressly evaluate in its written order each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant to determine whether it is supported by the evidence." <u>Campbell</u>, 571 So.2d at 419 (footnote omitted). The order in the instant case clearly shows what factors were found and considered by the court and the weight the court assigned to each factor.

No error has been shown. Assuming, arguendo, that the court's order is insufficient in some regard, this Court has made it clear that such errors can be harmless. Recently, in <u>Bates v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 6,(Fla. 1999), this Court addressed as similar argument and held:

In his fifth issue, appellant contends that the trial court erred by failing to

evaluate or even consider other nonstatutory mitigation. At his allocution hearing, appellant presented the trial court with: (1) his Department of Corrections records, asserting in his sentencing memorandum that he had a good institutional record; and (2) a sworn waiver of parole. Regarding appellant's waiver of parole, we have already determined that this was irrelevant evidence and find that the trial court did not err by not considering the waiver. Regarding the prison records, we find that the trial court's failure to address appellant's prison records in the sentencing order was error. See Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla.1990) ("When addressing mitigating circumstances, the sentencing court must expressly evaluate in its written order each mitigating circumstance proposed by the defendant...."). However, we conclude that this error was harmless beyond a reasonable See Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747 doubt. (Fla.1996); Lucas v. State, 613 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla.1992)

<u>Bates</u> at 750 So.2d 13

Based on the foregoing the state urges this Court to find that the order in the instant case sufficiently complies with <u>Campbell</u> and that, error, if any, is harmless.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN SENTENCING BOLIN ON THE NON-CAPITAL FELONY COUNTS.

Appellee agrees that if it is true that no scoresheet was prepared, that it was error to sentence Bolin to life without a scoresheet reflecting that it is the appropriate sentence or written reasons reflecting the basis for any departure. It is apparent, however, from the statements of both the state and the defense that they were aware of what Bolin's score would be and that he would score out to life for each of the non-capital convictions.¹² (V14/1221)

Even if this were a departure sentence, the capital conviction is a valid basis for departure. See <u>Benedith v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 472, 477 (Fla. 1998) and <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1081, 1087 (Fla. 1987) (conviction and sentence for first-degree murder is valid reason for departure from sentencing guidelines). Therefore, appellant can be resentenced on these convictions either within the guidelines or with reasons stated for the departure.

 $^{^{12}}$ The prior record on appeal shows that a scoresheet was prepared on these same offenses. (PR13/1607)

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, the judgment and sentence should be affirmed.